### No. 46963-4

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# ROLFE GODFREY and KRISTINE GODFREY, husband and wife and their marital community composed thereof,

Appellants,

v.

STE. MICHELLE WINE ESTATES LTD, dba CHATEAU STE. MICHELLE, a Washington Corporation; and SAINT-GOBAIN CONTAINERS, INC.,

Respondents.

and

#### ROBERT KORNFELD,

Additional Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE KATHERINE M. STOLZ

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT ROBERT KORNFELD

#### SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Rob Kornfeld was wrongly sanctioned \$10,000 in attorney's fees because he did not file a separate "joint statement of evidence" on behalf of his client, appellant Rolfe Godfrey, under the Pierce County Local Rules. But those rules require *the parties* to file a *joint* statement, which they did, when respondents Chateau Ste. Michelle and Saint-Gobain Containers, Inc., filed a statement incorporating the one Mr. Kornfeld provided them. For the reasons set forth in Mr. Godfrey's brief, this Court should reverse all sanctions based on the lack of a "separate" joint statement of evidence (which no rule requires), including the \$10,000 fee award imposed on Mr. Kornfeld. RAP 10.1(g).

Regardless, the \$10,000 fee award cannot be justified. The trial court made no findings supporting its award, including findings explaining the basis for the award and demonstrating that the fees awarded related to the "sanctionable" conduct. In fact, the fees imposed on Mr. Kornfeld were not related to the absence of a separate joint statement of evidence, but were fees for normal trial preparation that *any* attorney preparing for *any* trial would incur. This Court should reverse the trial court's unsupported and unjustified attorney's fee sanction.

### **II. INCORPORATION OF BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Mr. Kornfeld adopts and incorporates by reference the assignments of error, issues, statement of facts, and arguments set forth in Mr. Godfrey's brief. RAP 10.1(g). As explained in Mr. Godfrey's brief the trial judge's refusal to grant his motion to change judges was an error of law, and accordingly anything that followed is null and void, including the sanctions and terms, which are reversible error in their own right. Mr. Kornfeld also submits this additional issue and argument in support of reversal of the trial court's award of attorney's fees:

#### III. ISSUE

1. Must an award of attorney's fees imposed as a sanction be reversed where the trial court fails to make any findings in support of its sanction and the vast majority of fees are unrelated to the "sanctionable" conduct, but rather are fees incurred as part of normal trial preparation?

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

# A. The trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees without supporting findings and in awarding fees beyond the small amount attributable to the absence of a "separate" joint statement of evidence.

Because there was no sanctionable conduct, the trial court erred in imposing any sanctions. Regardless, the \$10,000 in fees awarded by the trial court must be reversed. As with its underlying sanctions order, the trial court made no findings supporting its attorney's fee award. (CP 761-62; App. A) For that reason alone, its order must be reversed. Moreover, the vast majority of fees the trial court awarded are unrelated to the "violation" of not filing a "separate" joint statement of evidence, but were incurred during normal trial preparation. This Court should reverse the \$10,000 sanction against Mr. Kornfeld.

Washington adheres to the "American Rule" that each party must pay its own attorney's fees unless a statute, contract, or recognized ground of equity allows an award from the opposing party. *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 177 Wn. App. 644, 656, ¶ 24, 312 P.3d 745 (2013), *rev. denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1026 (2014). Attorney's fees awarded for sanctionable conduct are not a fee-shifting mechanism and a trial court must "limit those fees to the amounts reasonably expended in responding to the sanctionable" conduct. Just Dirt, Inc. v. Knight Excavating, Inc., 138 Wn. App. 409, 418, ¶ 35, 157 P.3d 431 (2007); see also CR 26(g) (fees awarded as sanction must be limited to those "incurred because of the violation"); Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 672, 880 P.2d 988 (1994) ("the attorney fees award must properly reflect a segregation of the time spent on issues for which attorney fees are authorized from time spent on other issues"), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1112 (1995).

The burden of demonstrating the appropriateness of a fee award is on the party requesting fees. *Berryman*, 177 Wn. App. at 657, ¶ 25. "Courts must take an *active* role in assessing the reasonableness of fee awards ... [and] should not simply accept unquestioningly fee affidavits from counsel." *Berryman*, 177 Wn. App. at 657, ¶ 27 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434–35, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998)). Although an award of attorney's fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion, a trial court necessarily abuses its discretion by awarding fees without making findings to support its award, including specifying the basis for the award and how it calculated the amount of the fees. *Just Dirt*, 138 Wn. App. at 415-16, ¶¶ 24-29. Where a trial court fails to make the necessary findings, an

appellate court will remand – with appropriate guidance – for the trial court to make findings. *Berryman*, 177 Wn. App. at 659-60, ¶ 33.

Here, the trial court failed to make any findings supporting its award of attorney's fees, just as it did with its underlying sanctions order. (CP 761-62) It thus erred as a matter of law and its attorney's fee award must be reversed.

And here, there is no basis for a remand because in no event could the trial court justify its award of attorney's fees based on Mr. Kornfeld's "failure" to file a separate joint statement of evidence. As the respondents' own billing records confirm, the vast majority of fees awarded were unrelated to the absence of a separate joint statement of evidence. For example, the trial court included in its fee award time spent reviewing plaintiff's exhibit list (which is separate from the joint statement of evidence) and formulating objections. (CP 593, 726-27, 729, 737) That is something any attorney must do in preparing for trial and is not time "expended in responding to the sanctionable" conduct. *Just Dirt*, 138 Wn. App. at 418, ¶ 35. Likewise, respondents had to prepare their portion of the Joint Statement of Evidence whether Mr. Godfrey prepared his

or not (which he did and sent to respondents three days before the due date). (CP 593, 728-30)

The list goes on. An attorney in any case will have to copy exhibits (CP 593-94), review withdrawn exhibits (which both parties did days before trial) (CP 742), prepare for the pretrial conference (CP 738) and other general "trial preparation" (CP 739, Indeed, respondents' lead attorney failed to keep 741-43). contemporaneous records and instead backfilled the "trial preparation" related to the absence of a separate joint statement of evidence a month after trial. (CP 683-84) The trial court made no finding that this after-the-fact reconstruction was accurate and instead "unquestioningly" accepted counsel's self-serving assertion that her time was accurate. Berryman, 177 Wn. App. at 657, ¶ 27. The trial court erred in awarding fees in no way attributable to the absence of a separate joint statement of evidence. In the event this Court remands for entry of findings to support a monetary sanction against Mr. Kornfeld, it should limit those fees to those attributable to the "failure" to file a separate joint statement of evidence. Those fees totaled \$1,300 at most, as established in the annotated spreadsheet submitted by Mr. Godfrey below. (CP 750-52)

#### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the trial court's award of attorney's fees imposed personally on Mr. Kornfeld because no sanction should have been imposed. Moreover, the trial court's failure to grant the request for a change of judge was error and all orders which followed are void. If this Court remands for additional findings it should instruct the trial court that its fee award should not exceed \$1,300.