No. 46963-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

ROLFE GODFREY and KRISTINE GODFREY, husband and wife
and their marital community composed thereof,

Appellants,

v.

STE. MICHELLE WINE ESTATES LTD. dba CHATEAU STE.
MICHELLE, a Washington Corporation; and SAINT-GOBAIN
CONTAINERS, INC.,

Respondents,

and

ROBERT KORNFELD,

Additional Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Ave. North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
Attorney for Respondents

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

In cases governed by a case schedule, "the parties shall file a Joint Statement of the Evidence containing (A) a list of the witnesses whom each party expects to call at trial and (B) a list of the exhibits that each party expects to offer at trial." Pierce County Local Rule ("PCLR") 16(b)(4). The JSE must note whether the parties agree on each exhibit's authenticity and admissibility. *Id.*

PCLR 3 expressly authorizes the trial court to "impose sanctions or terms for failure to comply with the Order Setting Case Schedule." PCLR 3(k). When an attorney fails to comply with the Order Setting Case Schedule without "reasonable excuse," the trial court may impose monetary sanctions payable to the court, or "terms" (costs and attorney fees) payable to the opposing party. PCLR 3(k). "[T]he court may [also] impose such other sanctions as justice requires." *Id.* "[O]ther sanctions includes but is not limited to the exclusion of evidence." *Id.*

Under the amended case schedule, trial was set for September 29, 2014, and the parties were to file a JSE on August 29. CP 450. On July 10, more than one month before the JSE was

due, the court entered a pretrial order reminding counsel that the “Court expects Counsel to abide by the case schedule deadline for filing of the Joint Statement of Evidence.” CP 462, 464.

As detailed above, Godfrey did not file a JSE on Friday, August 29, despite receiving Ste. Michelle’s additions to the incomplete draft JSE Godfrey had prepared. CP 446-47, 452. Ste. Michelle included all required information in the draft: the witnesses Ste. Michelle intended to call, the exhibits it intended to offer, and its objections to Godfrey’s exhibits. CP 314-36. Upon learning that Godfrey had not timely filed a JSE on the 29th, Ste. Michelle filed this draft the next court day, Tuesday, September 2. CP 314, 452. On September 3, Godfrey confirmed that he had not timely filed a JSE, informing Ste. Michelle that he still had “a lot of work to do on the” JSE, and did not anticipate filing one before trial. CP 452.

Godfrey’s argument that he did not have to file a “separate” JSE misses the mark. BA 28. Godfrey complains that the JSE Ste. Michelle filed included Godfrey’s exhibits, so “satisfied the court’s orders and the local rule.” *Id.* But the local rule provides that the JSE must include both parties’ witnesses, exhibits, and objections to exhibits. PCLR 16(b)(4). While Ste. Michelle’s JSE includes all this required information as to Ste. Michelle, it does not include Godfrey’s

intended witnesses or objections. CP 314-36. Thus, it plainly does not satisfy PCLR 16 as to Godfrey. BA 28.

Godfrey argues that PCLR 16(b)(4) governing JSEs, contains no threat of sanctions, in “contrast” to PCLR 16(b)(2) governing the exchange of witness and exhibit lists, which provides that undisclosed witnesses and exhibits may not be used at trial, absent a showing good cause for the nondisclosure. BA 29. This “contrast,” Godfrey claims, “reflect[s] the fact that the JSE is” just an “*index*.” *Id.*

Godfrey’s argument is plainly at odds with PCLR 3(k), expressly authorizing the trial court to exclude evidence when a party fails to comply with the case scheduling order without reasonable excuse. Thus, Godfrey is simply incorrect in suggesting that the JSE rule includes no threat of sanctions. BA 29. Noncompliance with any aspect of the order setting the case schedule can result in the exclusion of evidence. PCLR 3(k).

And Godfrey misunderstands the purpose of the JSE. It is not just to combine the witness lists, exhibit lists, and ER 904 disclosures in one document. CP 483. Rather, the purpose of the JSE is to pare down witnesses, exhibits, and objections to exhibits before trial, so that trial is not a “guessing game.” RP 84, 85, 162-63. Yet Godfrey left Ste. Michelle guessing.

On August 25, Godfrey sent Ste. Michelle an exhibit list, including what purported to be three “exhibits” that were actually all of the documents produced by Ste. Michelle, Saint-Gobain, and Darden – hundreds of distinct documents totaling nearly 12,000 pages. CP 339. The JSE Ste. Michelle filed noted its objection to this document dump. CP 316-18. Godfrey never cured that error.

Godfrey’s ER 904, filed on September 4, suffers the same defect, dumping thousands of pages without indicating which documents Godfrey intended to use at trial. CP 342, 344. Even Godfrey’s JSE filed the day after the trial court sanctioned him, and after trial had started, has the same defect. CP 527, 529-31.

It is precisely for this reason that Godfrey’s argument that he did not violate the local rules misses the point entirely. BA 28-31. Godfrey states that he “disclosed four times the evidence he would rely on at trial” before the JSE due date. BA 25. That is accurate: he repeatedly disclosed hundreds of distinct documents totaling nearly 12,000 pages. CP 316-18, 339, 344, 490. But this sort of gamesmanship does not improve with repetition. Godfrey utterly failed to comply with the local rules and the trial court’s order.

4. Godfrey's failure to narrow down its massive disclosure was willful. (BA 30-31).

Undisputed facts contradict Godfrey's claim that his failure to timely file a JSE was not willful. BA 30-31. The court may exclude evidence for noncompliance absent a "reasonable excuse." PCLR 3(k). Noncompliance "is deemed willful" if it is "without reasonable excuse or justification." *Magana v. Hyundai Motor Am.*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 584, 220 P.3d 191 (2009). It is undisputed that Godfrey did not file a JSE when it was due on August 29, admitting days later that he "still [had] a lot of work to do" and did not plan on filing until trial. CP 452. That was willful.

Godfrey's principal argument is that lead counsel was "incapacitated," but that red herring does not explain Godfrey's noncompliance. BA 30. Godfrey omits that he had co-counsel to help him litigate the case as early as the affidavit of prejudice issue. CP 159 (Roxanne Eberly signs stipulation). Thereafter, she was deeply involved in the litigation. CP 191, 214, 217, 341, 452, 460, 524, 697, 159, 191, 214, 217; RP 2, 4-8. She could have filed the JSE.

Godfrey's argument is also belied by counsel's admission that he had delegated the JSE to his "seasoned paralegals." CP 471,

474. Where counsel had delegated the JSE, the failure to timely file it cannot be excused by his medical condition.

And in any event, counsel was not “incapacitated” when the JSE was due on August 29. CP 446, 450, 484. Godfrey’s lead counsel had dental surgery on August 25, and had emergency surgery due to an infection on September 3. CP 484. He became “incapacitated” while battling the infection around September 3 and 4. *Id.* This does not explain the failure to timely file the JSE when it was due on August 29, or why others responsible did nothing.

And counsel was back in the office on September 9, but did not file a JSE until after trial had started. CP 484, 527. Counsel’s medical condition does not explain the failure to immediately file a complete JSE upon his return to the office weeks before finally filing a still-defective JSE after trial started. *Id.*

Here too, Godfrey misses the real point: failing to file the JSE is not just about technical compliance with the rules. When Godfrey finally filed a JSE on September 30 – after trial began – Ste. Michelle had already repeatedly objected to Godfrey’s three-“exhibit” document dump on the grounds that it contained hundreds of unidentified documents totaling nearly 12,000 pages. CP 316-18; RP 79, 83. As discussed above, all of Godfrey’s filings suffer from this

same defect. Godfrey was on notice that Ste. Michelle was objecting, but he just kept doing the same thing. That was willful.

Finally on this point, Godfrey argues that the trial court's failure to explain willfulness in light of counsel's medical condition warrants reversal. BA 30-31. The trial court adequately explained her rationale on the record (RP 84-85):

[D]iscovery in this case, the cutoff was back in July – or, excuse me, June. The joint statement of evidence was supposed to have been filed 08/29, and the reason you have the discovery cutoff several months in advance of the joint statement of evidence is so that during those interim months, you can all be working like beavers in a bad winter just to . . . pare these things down and get them done. . .; and granted, you may have some health issues but so does the Court; and I've pretty much been here every day. . . I may have to take. . . recess on a case in an afternoon; but the bottom line is: I'm here. You have an office. They know what the deadlines are as well as you; and. . .they should be working towards those.

5. Godfrey's noncompliance substantially prejudiced Ste. Michelle's ability to prepare for trial: it spent weeks after the JSE deadline unaware of Godfrey's objections, and Godfrey never narrowed his massive document dump. (BA 31-35).

In the month preceding trial, Godfrey left Ste. Michelle guessing about Godfrey's objections, and which of nearly 16,000 pages of exhibits – the vast majority of which were unidentified – Godfrey would use at trial. That is contrary to the point of the JSE, which is to pare down and provide notice. Godfrey's trial-by-surprise tactics plainly prejudiced Ste. Michelle.

Neither the draft JSE Godfrey provided on August 26, nor the JSE Ste. Michelle filed on September 2, included Godfrey's objections to Ste. Michelle's exhibits. CP 314-36, 483, 490. So for weeks leading up to trial, Ste. Michelle had no idea what Godfrey's objections would be, or how to meet them. RP 78; CP 425, 447. That prejudiced Ste. Michelle's ability to prepare for trial and unfairly advantaged Godfrey. *Id.*

Godfrey argues that he cured that defect – and any prejudice – by serving an ER 904 with objections to Ste. Michelle's exhibits on September 12, and filing it four days later. CP 350, 362, 447, 484. That does not alleviate the two weeks Ste. Michelle was trying to prepare for trial without Godfrey's objections. Further, late-disclosing the objections created an additional prejudice: Ste. Michelle had “been scrambling ever since to try and keep up.” RP 78, 159.

Godfrey next argues that Ste. Michelle initially took issue only with the undisclosed objections, arguing on the second day of trial that it was also prejudiced by the document dump. BA 33-34. Godfrey argues, then, that the document-dump had “nothing to do with” the sanction for his noncompliance. *Id.* That is false.

Ste. Michelle plainly argued on the first day of trial, when the court first addressed the motion for sanctions, that Godfrey had

included “almost every document that had been produced in this case by every party and nonparty and included them as bulk exhibits.” RP 79. Counsel specifically addressed the “Ste. Michelle Documents,” totaling over 7,300 pages. *Id.*; CP 339. Although Ste. Michelle referred to Godfrey’s exhibit list, the same defect is on the JSE and the ER 904. *Id.*; CP 316-18, 339, 344, 529-31.

On the Saturday before trial, Godfrey finally made some effort to winnow down his exhibits, going from 25 to 12 binders. RP 79. The prejudicial effect of this document dump was plainly before the court on the first day of trial. *Id.* And the court’s order on September 29 addressed the prejudice caused by the document dump (RP 84):

We have deadlines, and you’re supposed to meet those deadlines; and the deadlines are there in an effort to pare down and make things more productive. We’re not shooting stuff right up until and during -- . . . as we start trial. That’s not the way we work today; and . . . the case schedules and those deadlines are there, and they are upheld.

Ste. Michelle asserted the same prejudice on the second day of trial, when Godfrey continued to argue the issue:

[I]nstead of disclosing the actual exhibits that they anticipated using for trial, they disclosed every document, nearly every document that had been produced in this case by any party, by any nonparty.

RP 159. The court again, agreed, ruling that even the pared-down document dump prejudiced Ste. Michelle’s ability to prepare for trial:

[Y]ou do handicap them by not . . . filing a joint statement of evidence which specifically says these are what we're going to use. I mean, you just can't blanket dump it out there and say, yeah, we're going to use all 7,000 of them, when you're probably not, and that's why they went to case schedules.

RP 163 (*see also* RP 166-67). And as if the court's reasoning was not already abundantly clear, she repeated it two days later (RP 473):

[T]o simply say we've got 7,800 documents from Ste. Michelle, and we're going to admit them into evidence, there's no way Opposing Counsel could go through those documents and attempt to figure out which specific documents were actually going to be relevant to your case. It's your case.

Godfrey's argument that he had "repeatedly disclosed the specific portions of those exhibits he would rely on at trial" does not fare any better here than it did below. BA 34; RP 163. Godfrey asserts that his noncompliance could not have prejudiced Ste. Michelle because he identified some portion of the nearly 12,000-page document dump in depositions, summary judgment pleadings, summary exhibits, and in his trial brief. *Id.* But as the trial court stated, trial is not a "guessing game." RP 163.

Godfrey appears to suggest that Ste. Michelle should have gone back through the pleadings and discovery to figure out which of the 12,000 pages Godfrey had previously relied on, and then to assume that these were the only pages Godfrey would rely on at trial. BA 34. But Godfrey is required to tell Ste. Michelle which exhibits he

will rely on. RP 163. Ste. Michelle is not required to comb through pleadings, depositions, and other discovery, and just guess (*id.*):

[B]y the time you get to trial . . . both sides need to know every piece of documentation the other side is proposing to use. It isn't supposed to be a, you know, if I guess it, you know, maybe I'm right and maybe I'm wrong. We're not down here for a guessing game.

And if Godfrey is suggesting that these are the only documents he intended to use at trial from the 12,000 pages, then his failure to simply file a JSE is was plainly tactical. BA 34. Godfrey's implicit assertion that he pared down the exhibits he would rely on long before the JSE was due is at odds with his assertion that there was still much work to be done on the JSE. *Compare* BA 34 with 452.

Godfrey also argues that a "separate" JSE "would have been redundant of the one Ste. Michelle had already filed." BA 31. Therein lies the problem. The JSE Ste. Michelle filed was incomplete as to Godfrey. It did not include Godfrey's objections to Ste. Michelle's exhibits as required by PCLR 16(b)(4). It did not address Ste. Michelle's objection to the document dump of hundreds of unidentified documents spanning nearly 12,000 pages. CP 316-18. Again, Godfrey never corrected that defect – his witness and exhibit list, draft JSE, ER 904, and final JSE, all included the same document dump. CP 316-18, 339, 344, 529-31.

Submitting another JSE that did not cure this defect would have indeed been “redundant.” BA 31. But that begs the question. Failing to timely disclose objections to Ste. Michelle’s exhibits, and never divulging which of the 12,000 pages Godfrey intended to rely on at trial, are precisely what substantially prejudiced Ste. Michelle.

Godfrey next asserts that Ste. Michelle was not prejudiced because it understood Godfrey’s case theory. BA 34-35. Godfrey has to disclose objections and exhibits to prove his case. PCLR 16(b)(4). Whether Ste. Michelle understood his theory is irrelevant. BA 34-35.

Finally, Godfrey claims that if the document dump really prejudiced Ste. Michelle, it would have complained on August 25, when it received Godfrey’s draft JSE. BA 35. Ste. Michelle objected in the JSE it sent Godfrey on the 29th, and many times thereafter. CP 316-18; RP 79, 83, 159. This last-ditch effort is unpersuasive.

6. The sanction was necessary to remedy the prejudice Godfrey’s willful noncompliance caused.

The prejudice Godfrey’s document dump caused to Ste. Michelle could not be alleviated by any lesser sanction than excluding the documents. When trial started, Godfrey had already seriously handicapped Ste. Michelle’s ability to prepare. RP 163, 166-67, 473. Allowing Godfrey to use his unidentified and untimely

exhibits would have been trial by surprise. *Id.* It also would have gutted the sanctions order. The sanction was necessary and just.

7. *Burnet* does not apply to the exclusion of exhibits.

Godfrey just assumes that this matter is controlled by ***Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance***, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). BA 27-29. The three-part ***Burnet*** test applies only when the trial court imposes one of the harsher remedies, such as dismissal, default, or witness exclusion. ***Burnet*** does not apply to the admission and exclusion of exhibits at trial. This Court should affirm.

The trial court excluded exhibits Godfrey failed to properly and timely disclose, and admitted exhibits Godfrey failed to timely object to, decisions traditionally within the trial court's broad discretion. CP 587-88. The trial court did not dismiss any of Godfrey's claims, enter a default, nor exclude witnesses. *Id.* Indeed, all of Godfrey's witnesses testified, including both of his liability experts (one even testified twice). Godfrey's expert testimony lasted over five days, totaling three full days of trial. In the end, it was simply unpersuasive.

Burnet and its considerable progeny are inapposite – all involve sanctions far more severe than those imposed on Godfrey. Those harsher sanctions include: limiting discovery, excluding expert testimony, and removing a claim from the case (***Burnet***); excluding

two experts and dismissing the case (*Blair*); striking a key medical expert (*Teter*); excluding multiple witnesses (*Jones*); and striking an untimely medical-expert affidavit, and dismissing the case on summary judgment (*Keck*).⁷ These Supreme Court decisions do not support Godfrey's claim that a trial court excluding – or allowing – exhibits at trial must apply the *Burnet* test, much less enter findings.

Burnet does not define “harsher remedies,” holding only that the three-part test applies where a trial court limits discovery, excludes expert testimony, and removes a claim from the case 18-months before trial. 131 Wn.2d at 494 (holding that the sanction was simply “too severe in light of the length of time to trial”). That, the Court held, was “significantly more severe” than excluding witnesses disclosed shortly before trial. *Id.* at 496 (discussing *Allied*, 72 Wn. App. at 168 (defense provided no explanation for failing to name witnesses up to the time of trial); *Dempere v. Nelson*, 76 Wn. App. 403, 405, 886 P.2d (1994), *rev. denied*, 126 Wn.2d 1015 (1995) (excluding a witness identified 13 days before trial)).

⁷ *Keck v. Collins*, No. 90357-3, 2015 Wash. LEXIS 1055 (Sept. 24, 2015); *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.2d 380 (2013); *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012); *Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011).

In **Mayer**, the Court held that “harsher remedies” requiring a **Burnet** analysis include “dismissal, default, and the exclusion of testimony,” but not monetary sanctions. 156 Wn.2d at 690 (quoting **Snedigar v. Hodderson**, 53 Wn. App. 476, 487, 768 P.2d 1 (1989), *aff’d in relevant part*, 114 Wn.2d 153, 169 & n.37, 786 P.2d 781 (1989)). In **Blair**, the Court held that harsher remedies include striking the plaintiffs’ only medical experts, and later dismissing the case on the ground that they could not prove causation without that very expert testimony. 171 Wn.2d at 346-47, 352. In **Teter**, the Court held that harsher remedies include striking plaintiffs’ key medical expert, after plaintiffs were forced to replace a medical expert who suddenly withdrew. 174 Wn.2d at 212, 217.

In **Jones**, the Court held that the trial court erred in failing to address all three **Burnet** factors when excluding three witnesses, but that the error was harmless, where the witnesses’ testimony would have been inadmissible under the court’s correct (and unchallenged) rulings *in limine*. 179 Wn.2d at 356-57. Godfrey misplaces reliance on **Jones**, which states only that “**Burnet** applies to witness exclusion.” *Compare* BA 31 *with Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 338. **Jones** does not address the exclusion of exhibits. 179 Wn.2d at 338.

Finally, in **Keck**, the Court held that **Burnet** applies where the trial court struck an untimely-filed medical-expert affidavit and granted summary judgment that the plaintiff lacked competent medical testimony to establish her medical negligence claim. 2015 LEXIS at *10-11. As the Court put it, “essentially, the court dismissed the plaintiff’s claim because they filed their expert’s affidavit late.” *Id.* at *14. Trial was still several months away. *Id.* at *14-15.

None of these cases support Godfrey’s argument that “**Burnett** [*sic*] applies to any sanctions ‘that affect a party’s ability to present its case.’” BA 26 n.8 (emphasis added) (quoting **Blair**, 171 Wn.2d at 348); see also **Keck**, at *13. Indeed – every sanction affects a party’s ability to present its case, including monetary sanctions, which **Mayer** expressly rejects as not harsh enough to invoke **Burnet**. 156 Wn.2d at 689-90. The language Godfrey relies on is used to describe the harsh remedies of default, dismissal, and witness exclusion (often coupled with dismissal), and in no way suggests that any sanctions “that affect a party’s ability to present its case” are harsh remedies subject to **Burnet**. **Blair**, 171 Wn.2d at 348; **Mayer** 156 Wn.2d at 690.

In short, the trial court's reference to Perry Mason was apt. Keeping Ste. Michelle guessing which of nearly 12,000 pages Godfrey would use was trial by surprise. The Court should affirm.

8. Any *Burnet* error would be harmless.

As explained above, *Burnet* has not been and should not be extended to the exclusion of exhibits at trial, where a party fails to timely object to exhibits and then dumps nearly 12,000 pages of unidentified documents purporting to be three "exhibits." But if this Court holds otherwise, then it should hold that the error is harmless, where the trial court was unpersuaded by Godfrey's considerable expert testimony. *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 356-59.

As explained in the Statement of the Case, the trial court heard 12 days of testimony. On liability, this was essentially a battle of the experts, but the court also heard from Godfrey, from a witness to the accident, and from Ste. Michelle employees (and others) familiar with its bottling processes. RP 934-64, 967-990, 1138-57, 1535-61. Godfrey's liability experts were on the stand on five different days, giving a full three days of testimony addressing his case theory. (William C. Hamlin): RP 137-153, 172-227, 323-82, 1574-98; (Eric Heiberg): RP 403-521, 531-90. That entire theory was that "rocker bottom" and "out of round" measurements that were within

manufacturer's specifications may have combined to create an opportunity for an invisible defect that could perhaps cause the bottle to break six months later when Godfrey just happened to be opening it with a single-lever wine key corkscrew. BA 35. Unsurprisingly, the trial court rejected this untenable theory.

The exclusion of evidence that is cumulative, irrelevant, hearsay, or otherwise improper, is harmless error. See, e.g., *Thornton v. Anest*, 19 Wn. App. 174, 181, 574 P.2d 1199 (1978). Ste. Michelle timely objected on numerous grounds to whatever documents Godfrey has never properly identified. CP 315-24. But in any event, they were obviously cumulative of five days of expert testimony supporting Godfrey's untenable theory.

And equally, the admission of Ste. Michelle's exhibits was harmless where, of the 16 substantive Ste. Michelle exhibits admitted at trial, Godfrey apparently included 14 on his ER 904 disclosure, waiving any objection. CP 309-10, 328-29, 342-49, 571, 603-11, 699-702, 723; *Hendrickson v King County*, 101 Wn. App. 258, 267-68, 2 P.3d 1006 (2000). In any event, Ste. Michelle properly disclosed its exhibits, and Godfrey just failed to object to them.

Any *Burnet* error would be harmless. But there was no error. This Court should affirm.

D. The court did not exclude Godfrey’s experts, but prohibited them from testifying about excluded exhibits.

Godfrey next argues that his noncompliance does not warrant the “exclusion of the opinions of Mr. Godfrey’s experts.” BA 38. Godfrey’s liability experts presented considerable testimony over a five-day period that the court rejected as unpersuasive. CP 690-92. Excluding the exhibits does not cure the prejudice Godfrey caused if they could testify about those exhibits. ER 703 is not a tool to back-door stricken evidence. This Court should affirm the trial court’s discretionary decision. ***Deep Water Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Res. Ltd.***, 152 Wn. App. 229, 271, 215 P.3d 990 (2009) (reviewing the admission of expert testimony for an abuse of discretion).

Deep Water, the sole case Godfrey cites, does not say that ER 703 permits experts to opine on excluded exhibits. BA 39. Indeed, Godfrey provides no apposite authority on this point. *Id.*

ER 703 permits a trial court to admit inadmissible evidence, such as hearsay, “for the limited purpose of showing the basis of the expert’s opinion.” BA 39 (quoting 152 Wn. App. at 275). ER 703 “is intended to broaden the acceptable bases for expert opinion,” recognizing that evidence not sufficiently trustworthy to go to a jury, is “nevertheless sufficiently reliable for evaluation by an expert.”

Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat'l Ins. Co., 126 Wn.2d 50, 102-03, 882 P.2d 703, 891 P.2d 718 (1994); **Henderson v. Tyrrell**, 80 Wn. App. 592, 629-30, 910 P.2d 522 (1996). No case says the rule permits using experts to back-door excluded evidence.

Indeed, Godfrey omits **Deep Water's** statement that ER 703 "is not designed to allow a witness to 'summarize and reiterate all manner of inadmissible evidence.'" **Deep Water**, 152 Wn. App. at 275 (quoting **State v. Martinez**, 78 Wn. App. 870, 880, 899 P.2d 1302 (1995) (quoting 3 DAVID LOUISELL & CHRISTOPHER NUELLE, FEDERAL EVIDENCE § 389, at 663 (1979))). Thus, ER 703 is not a means to bring inadmissible evidence in through the back door.

Correctly applied, ER 703 permits a medical opinion based in part on test results not admitted into evidence. **De Haven v. Gant**, 42 Wn. App. 666, 672-73, 713 P.2d 149, *rev. denied*, 105 Wn.2d 1015 (1986)). It permits expert opinion based in part on a medical history that itself would be inadmissible hearsay. **Hickok-Knight v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.**, 170 Wn. App. 279, 315-16, 284 P.3d 749 (2012), *rev. denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1014 (2013). And, as in **Deep Water**, it permits expert opinion on diminished value based on another appraiser's work. 152 Wn. App. at 274-75.

It is an entirely different matter to suggest that a judge abused her discretion where the sole basis for the expert opinions was exhibits stricken as a sanction. BA 39. Godfrey's experts Hamlin and Heiberg had no expertise regarding the bottling line used at Ste. Michelle when the bottle at issue was manufactured in 2009, so they could not testify about that bottling line without relying solely on excluded maintenance records. RP 327-46, 450-54. Allowing them to do so would simply overturn the sanctions order.

But any testimony about that 2009 bottling line is irrelevant, where the court's unchallenged findings reject as unpersuasive any claims that the "out of round" and "rocker bottom" variances contributed to a bottle defect. CP 691, FF 7-8. Godfrey argues only that a "perfect storm" of combined effects caused a defect – not that the line alone independently caused a defect. BA 34-35. Since the variances were rejected by the trial court in unchallenged findings, the bottling-line testimony is just a tempest in a tea pot.

Similarly flawed was Godfrey's attempt to elicit testimony from Heiberg regarding "exemplar" testing. Heiberg could not testify about exemplar testing without summarizing and reiterating the inadmissible exhibits, which ER 703 does not permit. *Deep Water*, 152 Wn. App. at 275. And as the trial court correctly and repeatedly

noted, permitting expert testimony on excluded exhibits would have punished Ste. Michelle for Godfrey's noncompliance. RP 458-59, 465-66, 470-71, 472-73. This argument is nothing more than an attempt to end-run the trial court's correct order on the JSE. The Court should affirm.

E. Remand issues are not yet ripe.

If the Court finds Godfrey's affidavit of prejudice timely, then of course he should receive a new judge on remand. See BA 40-42. But that should not happen for the reasons stated *supra*, Arg. § B. And if his affidavit of prejudice was untimely, Godfrey has not yet even asked this judge to recuse.

Thus, these issues are not ripe for review. In the highly unlikely event that this Court were to reverse the unchallenged findings and conclusions and remand for a new trial on the facts (presumably on a ground not articulated in Godfrey's opening brief) then there might be some possibility that Godfrey could request a jury trial on remand. But these issues are not ripe, so they should be left to the trial court to decide on remand.

On a jury trial, Godfrey cites *Wilson v. Horsley*, 137 Wn.2d 500, 974 P.2d 316 (1999) and *Spring v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 39 Wn. App. 751, 695 P.2d 612 (1985)). BA 42. *Wilson* is inapposite